FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/18/2021 4:50 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99782-9

Court of Appeals No. 80596-7-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

From King County Superior Court No.17-2-12287-4

SOEUN AM and KHEAM CHEAM,

Appellants,

VS.

THE ESTATE OF DILLON K. O'BRIEN, STATE OF WASHINGTON and WASHINGTON STATE PATROL,

Respondents,

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

MOBERG RATHBONE KEARNS, P.S.

Jerry J. Moberg, WSBA No. 5828

jmoberg@mrklawgroup.com

James E. Baker, WSBA No. 9459

jbaker@mrklawgroup.com

P.O. Box 130 – 238 W. Division Ave.

Ephrata, WA 98823 – Phone: (509) 754-2356

Attorneys for Appellants

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Soeun Am and his mother, Kheam Cheam, were severely injured in a collision on Interstate 90 involving a wrong-way driver. They were Plaintiffs at trial and Appellants in this matter.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioners are seeking discretionary review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion filed in this case on April 19, 2021.

Since 2012 it has been the standard of care in Washington and throughout the nation that States must establish a reasonable warning system to alert motorist of wrong-way drivers. The danger of wrong-way drivers has been an increasing concern for several years. The standard of care would, at the very least, require Washington state officials to adopt policies and procedures designed to warn motorists of the threat of a wrong-way driver, including the use of the State's variable message signs (VMS) to warn motorists. The State of Washington and the Washington State Patrol ignored the standard of care. They did not develop any policies or procedures to warn motorist of wrong-way drivers on the highway. The trial judge ruled, as a matter of law, that Soeun Am and his mother, Kheam Cheam, could not argue to the jury that the States failure and refusal to adopt policies and procedures to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers was a

proximate cause of their injuries in this case despite the fact that the State made no effort at all to develop and implement procedures for warning motorists of wrong-way drivers. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision focusing solely on the question of whether the State could have timely responded and activated available warning based on its outmoded existing procedure. The Court of Appeals did not address the Petitioners' important argument that the State failed in its duty to develop appropriate policies and procedures to provide an adequate warning system. The State had a legal duty to develop an appropriate warning system and they did nothing. The State's failure to develop appropriate policies and procedures should not provide it with a defense to this tragedy. The jury should have been permitted to determine if the State's failure to develop an adequate warning system utilizing the Variable Message Signs proximately caused the collision that injured the Petitioners.

If the State had developed a reasonable warning system and then activated the VMS system, the head-on collision between Mr. Am's vehicle and the car driven by the wrong way driver would have been avoided. The State was negligent. Sadly, the jury was not given the opportunity to decide this issue because the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge's erroneous ruling that the failure to develop a procedure and to activate roadside warnings was not a proximate cause of this crash.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Did the Court of Appeal's err in upholding the trial court's ruling that as a matter of law legal proximate cause could not be established in this case, despite the State's complete failure to adopt and implement a reasonable system to warn motorists of oncoming wrong-way drivers by utilizing he State's existing Variable Message System?
- B. Does States failure to adopt and implement a VMS based warning system to alert motorists of wrong-way drivers create a jury question on whether the State's negligence proximately caused the injury to Petitioners?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Facts

On May 15, 2017, Soeun Am and his mother, Kheam Cheam, filed suit against Dillon K. O'Brien, the wrong-way driver, and the State of Washington alleging, *inter alia*, the State's failure to establish proper guidelines and policies in responding to wrong-way drivers and failure to warn Plaintiffs of the hazard of a wrong-way driver. (CP 1-5.) The State twice moved for summary judgment on these claims raising the public duty doctrine defense. (CP 20-29; 471-82.) Hon. Judge Ruhl denied the State's motions both times. (CP 395-98; 1022-27.) Judge Ruhl determined that

summary judgment was not appropriate because there were disputed issues of material facts. (*Id.* at 1022-27.)

Hon. Ketu Shah was the trial judge. At the conclusion of Plaintiffs' case the State moved for a CR 50 directed verdict on the issue of proximate cause. (RP 284-324.) Judge Shah denied that motion. While Judge Shah was skeptical about Plaintiffs' claim regarding use of the VMS system, he decided that this was a matter that should be left to the jury to decide. (RP 332, 335-36.) At the conclusion of all the evidence the State renewed its CR 50 motion for a directed verdict. (RP 649.) The State's argument focused only on the proximate cause argument related to whether the Washington State Patrol trooper could have prevented the accident if he had arrived at the scene before the crash. (RP 650–51.) The Court again denied the State's motion holding that "it is for the jury to decide that question about what inferences are reasonable and what they are to – what weight they are to be given to those explanations." (RP 656.)

Judge Shah then inexplicably ruled that "there is insufficient evidence to allow a jury to make a reasonable inference here that the reader boards were a proximate cause of this – or the lack of information on the reader boards was a proximate cause to this injury" The Court then precluded "any argument related to the reader boards being causally related

to this accident" or that "lack of information on the reader board as a cause of this accident." (RP 667)

The jury returned its verdict finding the wrong-way driver negligent and the proximate cause of Plaintiffs' injuries but found no negligence or proximate cause on the part of the State. (CP 1367-68.)

B. Operative Facts

On May 17, 2015 Dillon K. O'Brien, a wrong-way driver on I-90, crashed head-on with a vehicle driven by Appellant Souen Am. (Exh. 4.) The crash resulted in grievous injuries to Mr. Am, serious injuries to his passenger Appellant Kheam Cheam (Mr. Am's mother) and the death of Mr. Dillon. By the time of the crash, Mr. O'Brien had been traveling on the wrong side of Interstate 90 for more than 14 minutes. (Exh. 3; Exh. 110).

As a result of the crash, Mr. Am suffered a significant brain injury that has rendered him unemployable and unable to live independently. (RP 146–47; 152-55). He does not remember the crash. His mother, Kheam Cheam, suffered significant personal injuries as well. (RP 134-35.) She was asleep in the rear seat at the time of the crash. (RP 135-38.)

At approximately 3:31 a.m. on May 17, 2015, a concerned citizen driver, Keith Tsang, called 911 to report an erratic driver who appeared to be under the influence (ERDDUI) eastbound on I-90 at milepost 38. (RP 275; 277–82; 606-07; Exh. 2.) The call was broadcast over the radio

network by a communications officer to WSP troopers. (RP 589-91; Exh. 2.) Trooper T. J Hahn was in the WSP detachment office (milepost 11-12 of I-90) doing paperwork. Trooper Hahn heard the call for assistance made by the communications officer and acknowledged as much by responding with his badge number "620" but then ignored the actual call and returned to his paperwork. (RP 461-62; 465; 472.)

Twelve minutes later, at 03:43, another call was received by WSP 911 reporting a wrong way driver also at milepost 38. (RP 594-96; Exh. 3.) On receipt of this call Trooper Hahn decided to respond. (RP 388; 472-73.) He responded immediately to the wrong-way driver report because that was a pretty grave incident and wrong-way driver incidents "don't end well." (RP 389.) He wanted to get to the scene as fast as he could. In responding to the wrong-way driver call Trooper Hahn drove at an average speed of 95 miles per hour. (RP 497.) Over the course of the next 15 minutes, dispatch received at least five other reports of the wrong- way driver traveling eastbound in the westbound lanes of I-90. (Exh. 3.) However, he did not ask dispatch to utilize the Variable Message System to alert westbound motorist of the impending danger of an intoxicated driver careening eastbound down the westbound lanes of Interstate 90. He admits that the State had never adopted a procedure for utilizing the VMS to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers and he had never received any training on how to implement the system to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers. (RP 477, 487.)

Fourteen minutes later, at 03:57, the wrong-way driver crashed into the vehicle driven by Mr. Am. (RP 602; Exh. 110.) The two vehicles exploded into flames. (RP 503; 504; Exh. 4; Exh.100 [Timestamp 25:35-25:50]; Exh. 221 [Timestamp 4:10-4:13].)

At trial, a police practice and procedures expert, D. P. Van Blaricom, testified on behalf of the Plaintiffs. Mr. Van Blaricom is an expert in law enforcement practices and procedures. He was in law enforcement since he was 21-years-old and worked as a patrol officer, detective, supervising officer, and ultimately as the Chief of Police for the City of Bellevue. He has been a consulting expert on law enforcement issues since 1976. (RP 178–84.)

Mr. Van Blaricom testified that the Washington State Patrol has policies that required them to respond to emergencies, including reports of drunk drivers and wrong-way drivers. Erratic drivers suspected of driving under the influence of intoxicants are a high priority requiring immediate response. (RP 206-09.) Regarding wrong-way drivers, the WSP trooper has the authority to close the road or highway. Wrong-way drivers create an unsafe condition. The WSP does not have detailed policies or procedures on how to close roads, nor has the WSP trained their employees on this

matter. The WSP could use the VMS system to notify motorists of the road closure. (RP 214.)

Mr. Van Blaricom testified that the trooper in this case, or other WSP employees, should have contacted the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) asking them to activate the VMS system to warn oncoming drivers of the wrong-way driver. (RP 210-12.) The National Traffic Safety Board (NTSB) has recommended the use of VMS system to warn drivers of wrong-way drivers since 2012. WSP has not implemented this safeguard. It has not created polices to use the VMS system to warn drivers and it has not trained its employees on procedures or practices to implement to use the VMS system to warn motorist of the wrong-way drivers. (RP 211-13.)

Mr. Van Blaricom testified that the NTSB issued out a report in 2012 regarding wrong-way drivers and appropriate policies and procedures to prevent crashes. It recommended that the State and other municipalities use the VMS system to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers. This would include warnings posted on the VMS system about a wrong-way driver approaching. Washington State and the WSP have not adopted any policy, procedure, or training to implement this recommended procedure. (RP 230-33.) Mr. Van Blaricom concluded that the State did not meet industry

standards or the standard of care in its response to the wrong-way driver. (RP 244-45.)

The state of Washington uses a Variable Message Sign (VMS) system on heavily traveled highways such as Interstate 90. The VMS system consists of electronic billboards. The electronic billboards alert the motoring public when it is prudent to warn by displaying messages such as "ACCIDENT AHEAD EXIT AT EXIT 54" and "CRASH – PREPARE TO STOP" and "REDUCE SPEED – CONSTRUCTION AHEAD." These message signs are to be used to warn motorist of dangerous conditions and for traffic control. Here, the State should have activated its Variable Message Signs and warned Mr. Am that there was a wrong way driver coming toward him on Interstate 90. Unfortunately, the State has never developed a procedure for utilizing the VMS to warn motorists of oncoming wrong-way drivers. (RP 230-33.)

Trooper Hahn admitted that he had no training on wrong-way drivers and the use of the VMS system to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers. (RP 477, 487.) The Communications Officer, Tristin Cody, who was dispatching information on this call admitted that he did not have any training on using the VMS system to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers. (RP 616.)

Communications officers at WSP have the authority to contact the WSDOT to have them activate the VMS system. (RP 260-61.) WSP has a policy about contacting WSDOT to close Snoqualmie Pass (near the scene of this crash) for weather conditions or accidents. They regularly close this section of I-90 for accidents and bad weather. (RP 269-70.)

Trooper Hahn was trained in the implementation of the pass closure plan. (RP 397-98.) He understood that the road closure plan was only intended for use because of inclement weather. (*Id.*) He admitted that it never crossed his mind to contact WSDOT and ask them to put up warnings on the VMS system regarding the wrong-way driver. (RP 478.) For example, he knew that he could ask WSP dispatch to call WSDOT to activate the VMS system to warn motorists that chains are required on the pass. (RP 479.) He was aware that WSDOT put up warnings on the VMS system like "Accident ahead proceed with caution." He did not think WSDOT would post a warning about wrong-way driver hazards on the VMS system. (RP 479-81.) While he was aware of a plan to notify WSDOT to activate the VMS system for inclement weather-related warnings, Trooper Hahn was not aware of any plan by WSDOT and WSP to activate the VMS system for wrong-way drivers. (RP 516-19; Exh. 45.)

The evidence is undisputed that the State was aware of the wrong-way driver at 03:43 on May 17, 2015 and the collision occurred at 03:57.

The crash occurred west of MP 54 and west of exit 54. (Exh. 3; Exh. 110.) The State had 14 minutes to activate the VMS system to warn on-coming traffic of the wrong-way driver. It is also undisputed that there were at least two VMS reader boards active and available east of the accident site that could have warned Mr. Am of the dangers of a wrong-way driver. There was a VMS east of the crash site at MP 54 and another at MP 61. (RP 602-04; Exh. 110; Exh. 48; Exh. 95.) In fact, after the crash, at the request of WSP, WSDOT posted on the VMS units at MP 54 and 61 that I-90 was closed west of exit 54 and that westbound traffic must exit. (Exh. 104; 110.) Plaintiffs would have passed those signs before the collision. There is no evidence to suggest that Mr. Am would not heed the warnings.

It is undisputed on the record that the standard of care would require warnings to motorist of the wrong-way driver and directions to exit the highway or use extreme caution. It is also undisputed that the WSP had the authority to use the VMS system when needed. In addition, it is undisputed that the WSP had not trained employees, including troopers

-

¹ The crash occurred at 3:57 a.m. (Exh. 110). Assuming that Mr. Am was driving 60 miles per hour (one mile per minute) he would have passed the VMS at MP 61 approximately seven minutes before the crash and the VMS at MP 54 one minute before the crash. He would have had ample time to respond to the warning to exit at exit 54.

and dispatchers, on a protocol to warn motorists of wrong-way drivers. This includes a failure to train troopers and other employees on the use of the VMS system. It is undisputed that the State had no policy or procedure in place to deal with wrong-way drivers or the use of the VMS system to warn motorists of the danger. (RP 477, 487, 516-17; 616.)

The jury returned a liability verdict in favor of Kheam Cheam in the amount of \$217,071.29 and in favor of Souen Am in the amount of \$10.4 million against the wrong-way driver but found that the State was not negligent or the proximate cause of the crash. (CP 1367-68.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals concluded that "Ordinarily, cause in fact is a question for the jury to decide." (Opinion at 9) However, the Court of Appeals then concluded that reasonable minds could not differ on the facts of this case on the legal question of proximate cause. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and decision of the Court of Appeals holding that proximate cause in fact should be decided by the jury. Furthermore, the question of the State's failure to adopt and implement a VMS based system to warn motorists of oncoming wrong-way driver involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be addressed by this Court.

This court reviews the trial court's ruling on a motion for judgment as a matter of law *de novo*.

B. The trial court and the Court of Appeals erred in deciding as a matter of law that development and implementation of a variable message sign-based warning system would not have prevented the collision.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals ruled that as a matter of law that the failure to utilize the VMS warning system was not a factual proximate cause of the crash. Both courts focused on whether the existing VMS system was able to provide a timely warning to motorists. Neither court addressed the Petitioners' primary argument, that the States total failure to create and implement a reasonable VMS based warning system was the negligence that proximately resulted in the collision. If the State had complied with industry standards and the established standard of care, it should have developed a warning system that would be immediately activated to warn motorists of the danger of oncoming wrong-day drivers, much like the "Amber Alert" system that exists in Washington. RCW 13.60.010 Instead, the State ignored its legal duty and did nothing. The Court of Appeals opinion exonerates the State from its negligent inaction without allowing the jury to decide if the State could have adopted and implemented an emergency warning system that

would timely warned the Petitioners and other motorists of the imminent danger.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the VMS warning claim for lack of evidence of **factual** proximate cause. This was clearly a matter for the jury to decide. Factual proximate cause is always an issue for the jury unless the Court determines that the facts are undisputed, and no reasonable jury would conclude otherwise. Similarly, legal proximate cause is a jury question if the facts are disputed. In this case, proximate factual and legal cause are based on disputed facts and should have been submitted to the jury for determination. As this court clearly held in *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 436–37, 378 P.3d 162, 169–70 (2016), cause in fact is a jury question and legal causation, if the facts are disputed, is likewise a question for the jury. The Court of Appeals opinion in this case is contrary to the ruling in *N.L.*

The Court of Appeals premised its ruling on the fact that the record lacked sufficient evidence that the VMS (reader boards) could have been activated in time for Am to have noticed the warnings and avoided the collision. (Opinion at 10) The Court of Appeals fails to address Petitioners' primary argument, that the State never took any affirmative action to comply with its standard of care and adopt and implement an emergency warning system in the first place. There was ample evidence

in the record from which the jury could determine that if the State had adopted and implements a reasonable emergency warning system this collision could have been avoided.

Here, the evidence is that:

- The VMS system was available for use to warn drivers of dangerous road conditions;
- It has been the industry standard and the standard of care in Washington since 2012 that the VMS system should be used to warn motorists of wrong way drivers;
- 3. The State has used the VMS system in the past to warn drivers of inclement weather conditions, accidents and other road conditions on I-90 near the scene of this crash;
- The State did not have any policy in effect to implement this standard of care regarding warning motorists of wrong-way drivers;
- 5. The State has not implemented training or trained Troopers, dispatchers or other key employees on how to use the VMS system to warn the traveling public of wrong way drivers;
- 6. While the WSP has adopted policies in conjunction with WSDOT to warn drivers of road conditions during inclement weather, it has not done anything to create a coordinated effort

between the WSP and WSDOT to warn motorists of wrongway drivers;

- The WSP had at least 14 minutes to implement the VMS warnings for westbound traffic regarding the wrong-way driver;
- WSP and its employees did not make any effort to use the VMS system to warn motorists of the dangerous wrong-way driver;
- 9. There were VMS reader boards at mile posts 54 and 61 that were used after the crash to warn westbound motorists of the crash and directing them to exit as exit54; and
- 10. Plaintiffs would have passed the VMS reader boards at mile posts 54 and 61 before the crash and in time to pull over or exit the freeway.

The question of proximate cause was for the jury to determine.

The Court's dismissal of the VMS system warning claim was in error.

The only remedy to correct the error is a new trial.

The issue is not unique to Washington. Wrong-way drivers are becoming a more frequent menace on the highway. *Mendoza v. State*, 2020

WL 85401 (Ariz. App. Jan. 7, 2020) is instructive.² *Mendoza* was a wrongful death action resulting from a wrong-way driver crash. The trial judge excluded plaintiff's expert witness on the use of Dynamic Message Signs (DMS) to warn motorists about a wrong-way driver. The trial court then dismissed the claim on summary judgment for lack of evidence.

The Arizona Department of Public Safety (ADPS) and the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) did not have a policy or protocol to formulate warnings on their DMS system. After hearing reports of a wrong-way driver on State Route 101, the ADOT operators used ADOT traffic cameras and police radio to track the wrong way driver's vehicle and anticipate his path. ADOT had not adopted a formal, scripted message to warn motorists of wrong-way driver emergencies. As a result, the ADOT operators were left to spontaneously craft their own digital DMS warning for motorists in the wrong-way driver's path. The three-line warning read: ONCOMING TRAFFIC AHEAD KEEP RIGHT." Plaintiff alleged the ADOT and the ADPS failed "to take reasonable measures to prevent wrong-

_

² This is an unpublished opinion. Arizona Supreme Court Rule 111(c)(1)(C) allows the citation of unpublished opinions (memorandum decisions) "for persuasive value, but only if it was issued on or after January 1, 2015; no opinion adequately addresses the issue before the court; and the citation is not to a depublished opinion or a depublished portion of an opinion." GR 14.1(b) a party may cite as an authority an unpublished opinion "if citation to that opinion is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction of the issuing court."

way accidents" and failed "to provide reasonable and appropriate measures and law enforcement in light of the risks involved." *Id.* at *1.

Similarly, at bar Plaintiffs' expert, Donald Van Blaricom, testified that the Washington State Patrol did not have any appropriate training or adequate policy instructing its employees on how to activate the VMS system to warn motorists of oncoming wrong-way drivers, even though such policies and practices have been the standard of care since 2012. The Arizona Court of Appeals held that the use of a warning system was part of the State's duty to keep roadways reasonably safe. The *Mendoza* court wrote:

His [the expert's] opinion is also relevant. A central issue in this lawsuit is whether the State breached its duty to keep roads "reasonably safe for travel." See Dunham v. Pima Cty., 161 Ariz. 304, 306 (1989). "Where, as here, evidence is offered from which the fact-finder could reasonably conclude that the public agency or jurisdiction should have foreseen a danger to plaintiff from the negligent or inattentive conduct of plaintiff or of another, then the question of the [government's] negligence is one for the jury." Id. Dr. Boelhouwer's opinion may help the jury understand the evidence and decide the case.

Id at *6 (Emphasis added.)

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