FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/11/2021 12:16 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99782-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SOEUN AM, a single individual, and KHEAM CHEAM, a single individual,

Appellants,

v.

THE ESTATE OF DILLON K. O'BRIEN, and the STATE OF WASHINGTON, its subdivisions and agencies, and the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CARL WARRING; WSBA #27164 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General 1116 West Riverside Avenue Suite 100; OID#91106 Spokane, WA 99201-3123 Phone: (509) 456-3123 Fax: (509) 458-3548

Email: carl.warring@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Controlling Authority and Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

As a threshold matter, because Petitioners seek discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision, they must satisfy one of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b), which provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Am and Cheam make two claims: (1) that the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, and (2) involves an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. for Review 12-13. Neither claim possesses any merit.

In an effort to manufacture a conflict, Am and Cheam cite *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016). Pet. for Review 14. However, *N.L.* supports both the trial court's and Court of Appeals' decisions in this matter. In *N.L.*, this Court held that cause in fact "is *normally* a question for the jury." 186 Wn.2d at 437 (emphasis added). But where a plaintiff fails to meet his or her burden of producing evidence

sufficient to support a finding that the accident would not have occurred but for the allegedly negligent conduct of the defendant, judgment as a matter of law is appropriate. *Whitchurch v. McBride*, 63 Wn. App. 272, 818 P.2d 622 (1991), *review denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1029, 828 P.2d 564 (1992).

In the context of a CR 50 motion, a plaintiff must produce evidence sufficient to support a finding of causation without calling on the jury to speculate. *Estate of Bordon ex rel. Anderson v. Dep't of Corr.*, 122 Wn. App. 227, 243, 95 P.3d 764 (2004). Here both the trial court and Court of Appeals determined that the jury would be required to speculate whether WSDOT could have activated its reader boards in time to prevent the O'Brien-Am collision. RP 666-68; *Am*, 2021 WL 1529760, at *6. Ultimately, Am and Cheam presented their remaining theories to the jury and, in the absence of a conflict with a decision of this Court or a published opinion of the Court of Appeals, they are asking this Court to set aside the jury's verdict and order a new trial. Review is not warranted.

Next, Am and Cheam ask this Court to step far outside the bounds of RAP 13.4(b) to grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion that "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." But the Court of Appeals opinion did not address the policy decision of when the message board system should be mandated. Am and Cheam are asking this Court to set aside the verdict

of the jury where the decision of the Court of Appeals neither conflicts with a decision of this Court nor does the petition involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Review is not warranted and should be denied.

B. A Directed Verdict is Proper Where a Plaintiff has Not Met His or Her Burden of Production

If this Court were to grant discretionary review, it reviews rulings on motions for judgment as a matter of law de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court, and may affirm on any ground supported by the record. *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006); *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 530-31, 70 P.3d 126 (2003). CR 50 (a)(1) provides in relevant part: "If, during a trial by jury, a party has been fully heard with respect to an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue, the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law"

A motion for judgment as a matter of law should be granted when "viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997). "Substantial evidence is a 'sufficient

quantum to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of a declared premise." *Estate of Dormaier ex rel. Dormaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia, PLLC*, 177 Wn. App. 828, 861-62, 313 P.3d 431 (2013) (quoting *Helman v. Sacred Heart Hosp.*, 62 Wn.2d 136, 147, 381 P.2d 605 (1963)).

Further, to survive a challenge to the sufficiency of evidence, a plaintiff's evidence must demonstrate a breach of the duty and "a sufficiently close, actual, causal connection between defendant's conduct and the actual damage suffered by plaintiff." *Rikstad v. Holmberg*, 76 Wn.2d 265, 268, 456 P.2d 355 (1969); *see also Whitchurch*, 63 Wn. App. 272 (affirming directed verdict where plaintiff did not produce sufficient evidence to support finding that accident would not have happened but for defendant's negligence).

C. The Court of Appeals Properly Determined That Am and Cheam Failed to Present Sufficient Evidence to Present Their Variable Message Board Theory to a Jury

Judgment as a matter of law was proper where Am and Cheam failed to provide an evidentiary basis for the jury to find that the alleged failure of WSP to ask WSDOT to activate a reader board warning was a proximate cause of the collision. "In a negligence case, the plaintiff has the burden of producing, among other things, evidence sufficient to support a finding of causation." *Whitchurch*, 63 Wn. App. at 275 (citing *Maltman v. Sauer*, 84 Wn.2d 975, 980, 530 P.2d 254 (1975)). The two pillars of proximate

cause are legal cause and cause in fact. *Channel v. Mills*, 77 Wn. App. 268, 272, 890 P.2d 535 (1995). Legal cause "involves a determination of whether liability should attach as a matter of law given the existence of cause in fact;" whereas, "[c]ause in fact refers to the 'but for' consequences of an act—the physical connection between an act and an injury." *Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 778-79, 698 P.2d 77 (1985). A plaintiff shows "but for" causation where they prove that the defendant's negligence is "a cause which in a direct sequence [unbroken by any new independent cause,] *produces the [injury] complained of and without which such [injury] would not have happened*." 6 *Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Civil* § 15.01 (7th ed. 2019) (emphasis added).¹

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Am and Cheam produced no evidence that the message signs would have been activated by DOT in time to prevent the collision. It explained:

The evidence in the case is that the Washington State Patrol was not informed of the wrong-way driver in the westbound lanes of I-90 until 14 minutes before the collision was reported. Assuming that Am was driving at a speed of 60 miles per hour, his vehicle would have been located

¹ Where RAP 13.4(b) requires a conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, Am and Cheam's reliance on nonbinding authority to support a petition for review is telling. Pet. for Review 16-18. First, *Mendoza v. State*, No. 18-0350, 2020 WL 85401 (Ariz. App. Jan. 7, 2020), is an unpublished Arizona court of appeals opinion. Second, *Mendoza* did not deal with the issue here: a post-trial appeal involving the failure of a plaintiff to present sufficient competent evidence of butfor causation. 2020 WL 85401, at *2-6. Rather, *Mendoza* dealt with a trial court's summary judgment ruling that excluded expert testimony because the proffered testimony failed to meet the requirements of ER 702. 2020 WL 85401, at *2-6.

somewhere between mileposts 67 and 68 when the Washington State Patrol was initially informed of the wrongway driver. Moreover, the evidence adduced at trial indicates that the nearest highway reader boards were located at mileposts 54 and 61.

Therefore, in order for Am to have seen any warning on the I-90 reader board located at milepost 61, the DOT would have had to program and activate a message on that reader board in less than 7 minutes from the time of the Washington State Patrol initially being informed of a wrongway driver. Additionally, in order for Am to have noticed any warning on the reader board located at milepost 54, the DOT would have had to program and activate that message in less than 14 minutes from the time of the initial report of a wrong-way driver being received. Yet there is no evidence in the record demonstrating that a message on the highway reader boards was capable of being programmed and activated in less than either 7 or 14 minutes.

Am, 2021 WL 1529760, at *5-6. The Court of Appeals noted that Am and Cheam's own expert admitted that he did not know the process for activating the signs. *Id.* at 5 n.9. The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that the only evidence adduced at trial established that it took approximately 40 minutes for WSDOT to activate the variable message signs on the morning of the collision. *Id.* at *6. Specifically, the Patrol asked WSDOT to activate its message signs at 4:34 a.m. to cue traffic to exit the highway. RP 603-04, Ex. 110. However, WSDOT had not yet activated the message signs at 4:42 as Trooper Christine White drove towards the scene of the collision. RP 604-05, Ex. 104. In fact, WSDOT did not activate the

message signs until 5:20 a.m., approximately 40 minutes after the first request was made. RP 605, Ex. 110.

Because O'Brien was driving the wrong way on I-90 for 14 minutes (at the most) before the collision occurred, Exhibits 3 and 110, there is no evidence to support the conclusion that a request by the Patrol would have prevented the collision and without which the collision would not have occurred. Moreover, Am and Cheam never produced any evidence to establish where along the roadway Am would have been, RP 125-26, 131-132 (Am testifying that he did not recall the accident); RP 137 (Cheam testifying she was asleep prior to the accident), assuming the message signs could have been changed in time. Nor did Am and Cheam produce any evidence to establish how any message would have changed Am's driving, RP 123-33, assuming he had been in a position to see the message signs.

Am and Cheam fail to provide any persuasive reason to disturb the trial court's ruling in this regard. Their "list of evidence" does not provide a basis for reversing the trial court, even if this Court assumes the truth of each of the assertions set forth by Am and Cheam. Pet. for Review 15-16. This is true because, as the Court of Appeals noted, *none* of their 10 points overcomes the simple fact that they lack evidence to establish the variable message signs would have been changed during the 14 minutes between the wrong-way driver reports and the collision. Am and Cheam presented *no*

evidence "from which a jury could conclude that the process could be completed, at that time of the day, in any quantifiably quicker time frame." Am, 2021 WL 1529760, at *6.

Moreover, the record does not support Am and Cheam's "list" of factual assertions. One example is particularly relevant. Am and Cheam write: "Plaintiffs would have passed the VMS reader boards at mile posts 54 and 61 before the crash and in time to pull over or exit the freeway." Pet. for Review 16. Noticeably absent from their briefing is citation to any evidence in the record for this self-serving speculation. In fact, at trial, Am did not testify about his speed or location prior to the accident. RP 122-33 (absence of any testimony by Am as to his speed or location immediately before the accident). Nor could he. He did not remember the accident at all. RP 125-26, 132. Similarly, Cheam did not testify about the speed or location of their vehicle before the accident. RP 133-43. Nor could she. Cheam testified that she was asleep in the third row of their suburban when the accident occurred. RP 137. Accordingly, Am and Cheam impermissibly invite this Court to assume that Am was traveling at 60 mph and to assume where Am was positioned along the roadway.

At the close of evidence, the State moved for judgment as a matter of law noting, in relevant part, that Am and Cheam failed to produce evidence sufficient to support a finding of causation without calling on the jury to impermissibly speculate. RP 285; see Cavner v. Continental Motors, Inc., 8 Wn. App. 2d 1001 (2019) (unpublished).² The trial court correctly applied applicable law relating to proximate cause, and properly determined that Am and Cheam lacked sufficient evidence to argue their "variable message signs" theory to the jury. The Court of Appeals, following well-established law, unanimously affirmed. This Court should deny Am and Cheam's Petition for Review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court under well-settled law. The Petition for Review should be denied.